

Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Master's Thesis 2022 30 ECTS

Department for Animal and Aquacultural Science (IHA)

Genome-wide association study of the genetic basis for resistance to IPNV in rainbow trout

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The master thesis was done at the Norwegian Institute of Food, Fisheries, and Aquaculture Research (Nofima), in collaboration with the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU), Norway. The study samples and data were provided by the Veso Vikan. The study samples were provided by Osland Stamfisk AS and the research study was done under the FutureEUAqua project, funded by European Union's Horizon 2020 research grant agreement No 817737.

I feel honored to show tremendous gratitude to my main supervisor Prof. Bjarne Gjerde (Nofima/NMBU) for his efforts, dedication, and understanding throughout the work. Thank you, Prof. Gjerde, for providing the direction and greater insight into breeding schemes, reviewing my drafts, providing recommendations, and answering my emails.

I would like to extend my regards to highly dedicated researcher Dr. Muhammad Luqman Aslam (Nofima). Undoubtedly, his learned insights into research have helped me to keep things in the correct perspective and to develop my skills in research work, data analysis, thesis writing, and logical reasoning. I am highly obliged for his easy availability, prompt feedback, and special concern for my development and thesis completion.

Special thanks to Prof. Øystein Evensen (NMBU) for supervising the laboratory work and providing greater insight into fish virology. I want to extend my gratitude to Prof. Armin Schmitt from Georg-August University, Göttingen, Germany for his support and for sharing his knowledge of statistical genomics, genetic frameworks, and bioinformatics. I am obliged for all the support and successful completion of this thesis.

I shall extend my appreciation to Ms. Sandra Radunovic (NMBU) and Mr. Amr Ahmed Abdelrahim Gamil (NMBU) for their continuous support and technical supervision throughout the laboratory work. I am highly obliged to Dr. Peer Berg (EMABG program coordinator at NMBU) for the facilitation, guidance, and encouragement during the entire stay at NMBU. Thank you for believing in me and strengthening my foundations in quantitative genetics. I am grateful to Stine Telneset (NMBU student advisor) for the administrative support and for helping me throughout my studies and research thesis.

I am highly indebted to my parents and beloved brothers, sisters, and friends for their continued support and encouragement. It would not have been possible for me to carry out my research without their love and support.

ABSTRACT

Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis (IPN), caused by the IPN virus, is one of the major threats to the Norwegian rainbow trout (NRT) industry. Despite disinfection, effective management, traditional breeding programs, and efforts to vaccinate the fish, the NRT industry is still prone to IPNV infections, leading to higher mortalities and severe clinical infections in production and breeding stocks, especially at the early life stages. The distinct genetic variations among IPNV isolates and different genetic basis of salmonoids can lead to 10-100% mortalities. The economic losses and welfare concerns called for scientific studies to analyze the molecular pathogenesis and discover the possible solutions to restrict the outbreaks of IPN in aquaculture, which led to the advent of selective breeding as the major step forward. In the present study we have investigated the comparative survival of NRT fry against IPNV challenge and possibilities of reducing this disease problem through selective breeding, and to what extent selection for increased resistance to one pathogenic strain of IPNV will also result in increased resistance to another isolate. It was found that an isolate from Atlantic salmon (IPNV-AS) is more virulent compared to an isolate from rainbow trout (IPNV-RT) which could be attributed to the marked difference in the genetic architecture of the viral genome encoding parts of the viral protein important for host cell interactions and immunogenicity. The estimated heritabilities for survival to both isolates in separate challenge tests were moderate and indicative of potential use in the genomic selection for increased resistance to IPNV in NRT selective breeding programs. The genetic correlation between survival to IPNV-AS and IPNV-RT was very high, meaning that the selection for one of the studied isolates will impart resistance against the other isolate. The GWAS have shown the polygenic nature of the traits under investigation as many QTLs were significantly associated with the traits. This implies that genomic selection is the best way to select against IPNV as it will account for all the genetic variation contributions by the many small QTLs. A detailed understanding of the genetic variation and interactions of the host and the IPNV are crucial in understanding the faith of the disease. Moderate heritability was also found for the viral load to IPNV-AS, and with a moderate negative and thus favorable genetic correlation to survival to IPNV-AS implying that viral load may potentially be used as the preferred selection trait for IPNV as it does not include non-specific mortalities, is more informative than the binary survival trait, and helps to detect clinical infections and carriers in the population. The QTLs should be validated using viral load as a trait, and actual causative mutation should be detected using large-scale data sets.

Table of Contents

I.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
II.	ABSTRACT	2
III.	TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
IV.	LIST OF TABLES	4
V.	LIST OF FIGURES	5
1.	INTRODUCTION	6
2.	LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1	VIRAL GENOME AND STRUCTURE	9
2.2	2 LIFE CYCLE AND MOLECULAR PATHOGENESIS	11
2.3	CLASSIFICATION OF IPNV	13
2.4	GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION	14
2.5	MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES	16
2.6	5 STATISTICS AND ECONOMIC LOSSES DUE TO IPNV	18
2.7	7 SELECTIVE BREEDING AND QTLs	19
2.8	GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)	20
2.9	GENOMIC SELECTION	20
3.	MATERIAL AND METHODS	21
3.1	STUDY DESIGN	22
3.2	2 DNA SAMPLES	23
3.3	GENOTYPING AND QUALITY CONTROL	24
3.4	RT-PCR SAMPLES	24
3.5	POPULATION STRUCTURE ANALYSIS	24
3.6	5 SURVIVAL ANALYSIS	25
3.7	VARIANCE COMPONENT ESTIMATION	25
3.8	GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)	26
3.9	PROCESSING OF RNA SAMPLES	27
	3.9.1 RNA extraction	27
	3.9.3 IPNV primers	28
	3.9.4 Real-time PCR analysis	29
4.	RESULTS	31
4.1	CHALLENGE TEST	31
	4.1.1 Experimental population	31
	4.1.2 Survival analysis of full sibs in the E-4 and E-5 tanks	31
42	2 ESTIMATION OF GENETIC PARAMETERS	32
r.2	4.2.1 Genetic variances	33
	4.2.2 Genetic correlations	33
4.3	GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)	
	4.5.1 Principal component analysis (PCA)	34

	4.3.2 GWAS for IPNV resistance	34
	4.3.3 Quantile-quantile (QQ) plots	35
4	4.4 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS	36
	4.4.1 Genotype wise survival analysis	36
	4.4.2 Survival and viral load analysis	37
5.	DISCUSSION	38
6.	CONCLUSION	42
RE	FERENCES	43

List of Tables

Table 1: Full-factorial mating design with three different QTL-genotypes	21
Table 2: IPNV forward and reverse primer sequences	28
Table 3:List of PCR reaction components	29
Table 4: Genotype-wise distribution of parental crosses and frequency distribution of the progeny fry	31
Table 5: Estimates of genetic variance, residual variance, and heritability for survival to IPNV-RT and IPNV	V-
AS and for the viral load of IPNV-AS	33
Table 6: List of amino acids substitutions in VP-2 viral capsid protein	39

List of Figures

Figure 1: Bisegmented IPNV genome (Dopazo, 2020)	_ 10
Figure 2: Clinical hallmarks of IPNV in Rainbow trout (a) abdominal swelling and dark skin (b) abnormal	
swimming with pseudo sticky feces (c) spleen enlargement (Büyükekiz et al., 2018)	_ 12
Figure 3: Worldwide geographical distribution of Rainbow Trout (adopted from Muhlfeld et al., 2019; Crea	ited
with Custom Map / MapChart, 2022.)	_ 14
Figure 4:Rainbow Trout aquaculture active sites in Norway (adopted from Fish Health report, 2014)	_ 15
Figure 5: Annual mortalities of Rainbow trout (2011-2020) (Inferred from statistics of the Norwegian	
Directorate of Fisheries, 2021)	_ 18
Figure 6: The parental crosses information inferred from the genotyped progeny	_ 22
Figure 7: Schematic representation of research study design (fish samples in E-4 tank were challenged with	ļ
IPNV-RT isolate and in E-5 tank with IPNV-AS isolates, and stocking density is same in both tanks).	_ 23
Figure 8: Thermal Cycler Profile for RT-PCR amplification of IPNV	_ 30
Figure 9: Day-wise mortality profiles of the IPNV challenge tests with IPNV-RT isolate (A) and IPNV-AS	
isolate (B)	_ 32
Figure 10: Survival of 25 full-sibs families challenged with an IPNV-RT isolate and IPNV-AS isolate	_ 32
Figure 11: Principal component analysis (PCA) for the study samples; individual clusters represent full-sib	
families and the first two principal components (PCS) explain 15.50 % of the variance. Figure (A) highlights	s
PCA output colored with dams genetic information and (B) shows PCA output colored by sires information.	_ 34
<i>Figure 12</i> : Manhattan plot of <i>-log10 P</i> -values derived from genome-wide association studies (GWAS) for	
survival to IPNV-RT and IPNV-AS AS-IPN viral load. The red and the blue lines represent the Bonferroni	
significance threshold and chromosome-wide threshold $(-\log 10 P \text{ values of } 5.8 (P=1.8 \text{ x } 10^{-6}) \text{ and } 4.3 (P=4.8 \text{ x } 10^{-6})$	1.6 x
10 ⁻⁵), respectively. Green dots represent highly significant SNPs in the parental generation	_ 35
Figure 13: Quantile-quantile (QQ-plots) of observed and expected -log10 of the p-value for survival to IPN	IV-
RT and IPNV-AS, and AS-IPN viral load	_ 36
Figure 14: Genotype-wise overall survival of the three rainbow trout fry genotypes (RR, RS, and SS) infected	d
with the IPNV-RT isolate. The color codes represent a 95% confidence interval	_ 37
Figure 15: Comparative analysis of survival and viral load inferred from tank E-5. Colored rectangular blo	ocks
of 10 days intervals are used for comparison over the 40 days challenge test period.	_ 37

1. INTRODUCTION

Aquaculture is the most efficient and rapidly expanding industry to produce sustainable, nutritious, and most importantly healthy seafood for the growing population. The world's marine fish aquaculture increased exponentially over the past few decades and reached 7.4 million tonnes of live weight in 2018 (FAO, 2020). The geographical location of Norway is well suited for marine aquaculture and is the second major producer with an annual production of 1.4 million tonnes of live fish weight (China at the top with 1.5 million tonnes in 2018). The Norwegian aquaculture (NA) consists of Atlantic salmon (AS) with an annual production of 1.4 million tonnes in 2019), rainbow trout (RT) with 83 000 tonnes/annum, and relatively a low production (4000 tonnes/ annum) of a few other marine species (Statistics Norway, 2020).

The Norwegian rainbow trout aquaculture is prone to a wide range of bacterial pathogens (*Flavobacterium branchiophilum, Renibacterium salmoninarum, Aeromonas salmonicida,* etc.) and viral pathogens (*salmonid alphavirus, infectious pancreatic necrosis virus, Piscine myocarditis virus,* etc.), which results in substantial economic losses. The predominant diseases are Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis (IPN), Viral Hemorrhagic Septicaemia (VHS), Furunculosis, Vibriosis, and kidney disease (KD) (FAO, 2009). IPN is caused by the Infectious Pancreatic Necrotic Virus (IPNV) and is one of the major threats to the Norwegian salmon and rainbow trout industry. Over the years 2001-2020 the annual production loss in Norway was 9.5 million Norwegian rainbow trout (NRT) juveniles and 3.6 million grown out (Aquaculture Statistics, 2020). IPNV is one of the major causes of mortality and its outbreaks are major threats to NRT breeding stations and growing farms with 10-100 % mortality (13th EAFP Grado, 2007). Until 2015, the NRT industry faced huge economic losses due to high IPNV prevalence (on average 10 IPNV outbreaks per year, Sommerset *et al.*, 2020).

The outbreak of IPNV was first reported in Canada in 1841 and the first characterization of the virus was done in 1960. In Norway, the first IPNV was isolated from rainbow trout in 1975 and was considered a notifiable disease in 2008 due to higher economic losses and welfare concerns (Håstein & Krogsrud, 1976; Society, 1941; Sommerset *et al.*, 2020; Wolf *et al.*, 1960). The primary target of IPNV is the pancreas of the fish (as the name suggests) followed by the liver and other organs. IPNV outbreak can happen anytime in the production cycle, however, fry, juvenile, and post-smolting stages show higher susceptibility to IPNV.

The infectious IPNV remained prevalent in aquaculture despite disinfection, effective management, selective breeding programs, and efforts to vaccinate the fish. Differential mortalities are attributed to the different genetic basis of salmonoids and distinct genetic variations among IPNV isolates. Different studies were conducted to investigate the molecular basis of virulence. The genetic details are not fully understood but many studies show variation in segment A of the IPNV genome with reference to alteration in virulence (SANO et al., 1992a). A study by Song et al., states that the distinct motifs of the VP2 Capsid Protein (like Thr-217 and Ala-221) are associated with a virulent form of IPNV (Song *et al.*, 2005). However, the molecular analysis of isolates from field outbreaks also shows that substitution of proline instead of threonine at 217 bp in virus protein-2 (VP2) may result in higher mortalities (Bain *et al.*, 2008a).

The molecular epidemiology of IPNV in Norway has shown that genetic variations among IPNV isolates are mostly present at silent positions in the genome. The samples from hatchery and sea farms have shown differences in amino acid motifs. The threonine-alanine pattern was dominating at positions 217and 227 of VP-2 in both study groups but was not found to be significantly linked with fish mortalities. The studies have shown that the horizontal transmission of IPNV which occurs among individuals of the same generation sharing the same space, whereas some other studies have confirmed the vertical transmission i.e., transfer of infectious agent from parents to progeny (13th EAFP Grado, 2007).

One of the remarkable break-through in the history of aquaculture is the utilization of selective breeding to increase the resistance against IPNV. The initial work utilized mortality data from challenge tests to show that resistance is highly heritable ranging from 0.17-0.62 (Kjøglum *et al.*, 2008; Wetten *et al.*, 2007). However, the incredible success was the discovery of QTLs on Chr-26 which are controlling the resistance to IPNV in Atlantic salmon. The advent of selective breeding and the discovery of significant QTLs led to the establishment of IPNV-resistant breeding stocks (Houston et al., 2010; Moen *et al.*, 2009). Considering this, different studies were initiated to analyze the genetic basis of IPNV-resistance in RT and have discovered the QTLs for IPNV-resistance on different chromosomes (AquaGen, accessed 2022-05-09; EAAP Abstracts, 2019; Rodríguez *et al.*, 2019).

IPNV is not a notifiable disease but is still a real concern for the aquaculture industry. Scientific studies have shown that the genetic interactions between the salmonoids and IPNV decides the faith of infections. Until now, the research studies are either focused on the molecular

epidemiology of the virus or the genetic architecture of the salmonoids. The studies conducted so far have their own merits, but detailed genetic studies are missing that can explain the genomic basis of host-pathogen interaction in terms of the severity of infection. The current research was designed with the aim to investigate the comparative survival of NRT fry against IPNV challenge and possibilities of reducing this disease problem through selective breeding, and to what extent selection for increased resistance to one pathogenic strain of IPNV will also result in increased resistance to another isolate.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) is the causative agent of the major and highly contagious diseases of aquaculture, IPN. It is a member of the Aquabirnavirus genus and Birnaviridae family of viruses. It was first reported in Canada in 1941 in a brook trout outbreak and was first named by M'Gonigle as "catarrhal enteritis" but was later changed by Wood to IPNV after a histopathological study of infected brook trout (Munro & Midtlyng, 2011; Wood *et al.*, 1955; M'Gonigle, 1941).

The IPN viruses were isolated and characterized to analyze the viral properties underlying the molecular basis of host-pathogen interaction and subsequent immune response. Molecular characterization revealed a bi-segmented genome, whereas structural characterization using advanced microscopy revealed an icosahedron capsid structure, the location of sub-viral particle residues, and hypervariable immunogenic regions on it (Coulibaly *et al.*, 2010; Dobos & Roberts, 1983; Santi *et al.*, 2004). This chapter is divided into several sections to extensively describe the viral properties, life cycle, prevalence, distribution, management strategies, QTL mapping, genomic selection, and official statistics of the IPNV and rainbow trout.

2.1 VIRAL GENOME AND STRUCTURE

The IPNV is an icosahedral virus with the RNA genome enclosed by a non-enveloped protein shell. The biochemical analysis of the virus showed a molecular weight of 55 x 10^6 Da, a size range of 57- 74 nm, and is composed of protein (91%) and RNA (9%). IPNV is highly stable against extreme physiochemical conditions like acidic pH, 0- 40 % salinity, and temperatures up to 60 °C (Dopazo, 2020; Evensen & Santi, 2008). The purified IPNV showed a sedimentation coefficient of 435-S and a buoyant density of 1.33 g/ml in CsCl (Kim & Leong, 1999). IPNV showed similar biochemical properties to infectious bursal virus (IBDV) and Drosophila X virus (DXV) (Scott *et al.*, 2011a).

Structurally, IPNV contains a very thin protein capsid around genetic material and is nonenveloped. The genome is in the form of double-stranded and bi-segmented RNA (A and B segments) as shown in figure 1 below. The A segment of the dsRNA genome contains ~3100 bp with two open reading frames (ORF) that encode for major capsid proteins and some nonstructure proteins, whereas the B segment is composed of ~2784 bp and has one ORF that only codes for free or genome linked forms of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (Dobos, 1995; Duncan et al., 1986; Dobos, 1995b)



Figure 1: Bisegmented IPNV genome (Dopazo, 2020)

The dsRNA genome of IPN encodes 5 virus proteins (VP). VP1 is a 94 kDa protein encoded by segment B of the genome and it functions as RNA-dependent RNA polymerase that catalyzes the replication of viral RNA. The 54 kDa VP2 is the second viral capsid protein that helps in the attachment of the virus to cell surface receptors. VP2 is encoded together with VP3 by segment A and the VP3 forms ribonucleoprotein by binding with RNA and is present on the inner side of the viral capsid. The VP4 is a protease that cleaves the precursor 106 kDa protein to create major viral proteins. The VP5 is a non-structured protein that is dispensable for in vivo replication of the virus and is not linked with virulence. However, VP5 is not required for the IPN replication *in vitro* (Dobos, 1995; Tapia *et al.*, 2021).

The 3' and 5' untranslated regions (UTR) of the IPNV genome have important implications for replication and virulence. One study reported that 5' UTR serves as the attachment site for structural protein VP-1 that helps in the initiation of translation (Dobos, 1995). Whereas other studies reported that 5' UTR together with VP-1 forms the structure to function as an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) to initiate translation and the mutation in this genomic region impacts the infectivity of the virus (Rivas-Aravena *et al.*, 2012).

2.2 LIFE CYCLE AND MOLECULAR PATHOGENESIS

The IPNV infection pathway is relatively well understood. The virus enters the host either through an oral or anal route and then utilizes its VP2 capsid protein for attachment to the ~150-kDa receptor present on the cell membrane of the fish, which led to the internalization of the IPNV. Little literature is available on the uncoating of the capsid as RNA polymerase is functional in both forms; uncoated and encapsulated. The virus hijacks the synthesis machinery of the host cell, utilizing its sources to multiply itself by replication (Scott *et al.*, 2011b).

The infections of IPNV cause a wide range of virulence and pathogenicity in fish species, ranging from overt symptoms to varied mortalities in outbreaks. Different research studies were done to analyze the molecular basis of virulence by comparing amino acid residues of different IPNV isolates from different challenge tests and field outbreaks (Tapia et al., 2021). It was observed that certain amino acid residues at specific locations on segment A of the IPNV genome are responsible for virulence. Initially, (Sano et al., 1992b) studied rainbow trout infected with two IPNV strains; aquabirnavirus (avirulent) and Buhl type (virulent) and demonstrated that segment A is responsible for virulence. (Bruslind et al., 2000) confirmed the study of Sano et al., after experimenting with brook trout infected with different isolates of the same serotype and found the VP2 region of segment A as the main virulence determinant. They suggested threonine residues at position 217 and lysine at position 286 on segment A to distinguish virulent from avirulent strains. The successive studies identified more amino acid residues linked with virulence including 217 and 286 (Julin et al., 2013; Skjesol et al., 2011). (Song et al., 2005) employed reverse genetics and discovered positions 217 and 221 on segment A as major virulence determinants. As a result of these studies, isolates with a specific amino acid motif like I₆₄ T₁₃₇ T₂₁₇ A₂₂₁ L₂₈₆ V₃₁₄ are considered virulent (I: isoleucine, T: threonine, A: alanine, L: lysine, V: valine). In addition to this, phylogenetics analysis of Norwegian isolates was done to identify key genetic fingerprints for sub-clinical and clinical infections and the observed motif was like the suggested motif for clinical infections (Mutoloki et al., 2016).

However, the molecular determinants of virulence do not always correspond to IPN outbreaks and mortalities in salmon and trout. (Bain et al., 2008b) discovered that Scottish isolates with low virulence determinants turned out to be highly virulent in one field outbreak analysis. The researchers concluded that other factors together with virulence determinants can impact the rate of mortalities in different IPN outbreaks. Interestingly, it was found that stress plays a major role in the replication of IPNV and the reversion of avirulent to virulent variants. Altogether, these results verify that the degree of IPNV virulence is dependent on host biology, IPN strain, host-pathogen interaction, and environment (Gadan *et al.*, 2013). Recently, the virulence of the IPNV variants has been evaluated in challenge tests with rainbow trout. The infected stock has shown mortality according to IPNV genotypes, the isolates of Genotype 2 and 5 caused higher mortalities whereas Genotype 6 showed weaker mortalities (Eriksson-Kallio *et al.*, 2020). Moreover, the strains with low virulence determinants in Atlantic salmon have shown higher mortalities in rainbow trout (Ahmadivand *et al.*, 2020; Tamer *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 2: Clinical hallmarks of IPNV in Rainbow trout (a) abdominal swelling and dark skin (b) abnormal swimming with pseudo sticky feces (c) spleen enlargement (Büyükekiz et al., 2018)

The virus attacks the host cell and multiplies within the host cell's cytoplasm. The prime targets of the viral are the pancreas, liver, and kidney. The histopathological hallmarks of IPNV infection are the targeted destruction of pancreatic tissue and zymogen granules released from necrotic cells. The pathological and clinical studies have shown that exposure of the fish to

IPNV led to darker skin color, abdominal distension, abnormal swimming, sticky and trailing feces, and stunted growth as shown in figure 2. The virus showed higher variation in mortality, and it was demonstrated that different factors like stress, overcrowding, bad husbandry, and poor environment are the major players in deciding the fate of the IPNV infection and mortality (Kar, 2016a).

The distinctive genetic characteristics and diverse range of mortalities led to the categorization of the IPNV infection into two main groups: clinical and subclinical infections. Different scientific studies have revealed unique genetic fingerprints that code for specified clinical conditions and immunogenicity (Munang'Andu *et al.*, 2013; Mutoloki *et al.*, 2016). The clinical infection is signalized as damage in tissue organs of the host that could lead to higher mortalities in infected stock, whereas subclinical infection is persistent in which infected fish act as carriers of the virus without developing serious symptoms (Johansen & Sommer, 1995; Mangunwiryo & Agius, 1988). The reverse genetics approach highlighted the already studied amino acid motifs at positions 217 and 221 and showed that $T_{217}A_{221}$ codes for clinical and $P_{217}T_{221}$ specify the subclinical form of infection (Santi *et al.*, 2004). This research was supported by (Gadan *et al.*, 2013; Mutoloki *et al.*, 2016; Song *et al.*, 2005) who showed the same genetic codes for IPNV infection categories and the mutation in these residues led to the conversion of the subclinical to the clinical form. The findings have shown the link of pathogenicity and virulence to specific amino acid motifs central to vaccine development.

2.3 CLASSIFICATION OF IPNV

The classification of diversified IPNV strains is based on two approaches. The first classification was marked by (Hill & Way, 1995) into two serogroups: serogroup A with 1-9 serotypes and serogroup B with one serotype B1. The second classification was outlined and extended by (Blake *et al.*, 2001; Nishizawa *et al.*, 2005) and despite diversity, they proposed seven classified genogroups. They found that there is a correlation between strain type, genotype, serotype, and strain origin. The four strains of IPNV (C1, C2, C3, and Ja) were reported from Canada, two strains (Sp and Ab) from Demark, two strains (Te, and TV-1) from the UK, one (WB) strain from the USA, one (He) strain from Germany and one (MaBV) strain was reported from Japan.

2.4 GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION



Figure 3: Worldwide geographical distribution of Rainbow Trout (adopted from Muhlfeld *et al.*, 2019; Created with Custom Map | MapChart, 2022.)

The rainbow trout *specie* is native to North America and was distributed throughout the world by the relocation of eyed eggs since 1872 as shown in figure 3 (Fornshell, 2002). The RT has high value because of its simple farming, climate adaptation (can tolerate 0 - 25°C), superior meat quality, and higher compatibility with most conditions (Shamspor, S., H. Khara and H. Golshahi, 2012; support, 2010). That led to the introduction and farming of RT in major parts of the globe such as Europe, the Far East, New Zealand, Central and Southern America, Africa, and East Asia as shown in figure 3 above (Ford, 1984). According to the reports, the eggs were first transported out of America to Japan in 1877, England in 1885, Turkey in the 1970s, and parts of Europe in the 1980s. Finally, the hatcheries in Denmark, England, and Scotland were used to transfer stored eggs of RT throughout Europe including Norway (Okumus, 2002). In Norway, the RT farms are distributed in seven counties and Hordaland County alone is contributing 47 % of the total RT production in Norway (Aquaculture Statistics, 2020). The current distribution of RT farms across Norway is shown in figure 4.



Figure 4:*Rainbow Trout aquaculture active sites in Norway (adopted from Fish Health report, 2014)*

IPNV outbreak was first reported in North America in 1941 and then later in all parts of the world linked with aquaculture (M'Gonigle, 1941). The IPN virus was first isolated from rainbow trout (RT) in Norway in 1975 and was reported as a notifiable viral infection in aquaculture until 2008(Håstein & Krogsrud, 1976b; Sommerset, 2020). It has been isolated from many aquatic species including bivalve molluscs but major targets of IPNV are found to be Rainbow trout, brook trout, Atlantic salmon, coho salmon, and brown trout (Birnaviridae (chapter of) Virus Taxonomy book, 2012). Different strains of IPNV were reported mostly in different countries of the European, Asian, and American continents (Kar, 2016b).

The IPNV showed a diversified host range and has been isolated from 32 different fish families, 11 molluscs species, and 4 crustaceans species. IPNV is known to cause clinical symptoms of IPN in salmonoids. There are ten serotypes of IPNV, nine of which are virulent, and one is avirulent to salmonoids. The variation of the pathogenicity has been detected between serotypes and even within serotypes (Birnaviridae and Picobirnaviridae (chapter of) Fenner's veterinary virology book, 2017). Different amino acid motifs linked to virulence have been deduced from comparative studies of field outbreaks and verified that T₂₁₇ A₂₂₁ is involved in virulence (Shivappa *et al.*, 2003; Santi *et al.*, 2004).

The IPNV can infect the salmonoids at any developmental stage, but the fry is the most susceptible especially at the early feeding and post smolting phase. As the name suggests, the prime target of IPN is pancreas tissue followed by the liver which is also the target organ of this virus (H. M. Munang'andu et al., 2016). The IPNV is a serious concern for financial losses and animal welfare as the infected stock either shows mortality or acts as a carrier and transmits the infection to naïve stocks.

2.5 MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

IPN is a highly contagious disease due to its higher transmission ability, severe mortalities, and withstanding nature of the virus. The virus was isolated from a wide range of aquatic species principally salmonoids and it was observed that it can be transmitted from one species to another. One experimental study reveals that blue mussel can serve as the host for IPNV and can be transmitted to fry and smolts. The IPN virus is very tough and can withstand desiccation, different environments, higher temperatures, and exposure to radiation. Therefore, it is a threat as a lifelong infection of farmed fish (Lakshmi *et al.*, 2019).

Different management strategies were derived to effectively control the incidence of IPNV infections. The best way to prevent an IPNV outbreak is to minimize the contact of the virus with the host. This implies that hatchery, breeding facilities, egg sources, and water supply must be virus-free to prevent the spread of the disease. But the resilient nature of the virus led to a wider distribution, recurrent outbreaks, severe mortalities, and carrier survivors in the past. The surviving fish after the viral outbreak can continue to act as a carrier and continuously shed the virus which will lead to either vertical or horizontal transmission of virus to a healthy host. The horizontal transfer of IPNV is between individuals of the same generation living in the same facility, whereas vertical transfer is between generations (from parents to progeny) (Kar, 2016b). Different management strategies are highly recommended to hamper the prevalence and transmission of IPNV. The sterilization treatment of aquaculture facilities with ozone, UV irradiation, chlorine, or iodophor are highly effective against IPNV but higher exposure and concentration are required to effectively control. The IPNV can also be controlled by prolonged exposure to extreme pH, drying, a higher concentration of formalin, and higher temperature. It was found that the virus can be inactivated completely in four days by applying a higher concentration of formalin in a warm environment (Stoskopf, 2015).

Vaccination is the most effective and safe solution to prevent or reduce outbreaks of resistant infectious agents like IPNV. But the major challenge faced by the IPN vaccines is efficacy as most of the vaccines failed to completely stop the post-challenge mortality in aquatic animals (Munang'andu et al., 2014). This results in the urgent need for better comprehension of the immunological basis of IPNV infection, the innate and adaptive immune response of the host against the virus, and the molecular basis of host-pathogen interaction to prevent the recurrence of outbreaks (Gomez-Casado et al., 2011; standardization, 1997). Different immunological studies were initiated to trigger the vaccine development and many scientists studied different cell surface markers and adaptive immune responses in fish using molecular strategies, knockout models, and gene expression studies. They correlated the mechanisms of protective immunity to seek the answers to the questions of IPNV control strategy in salmonoids (Reno *et al.*, 1978).

The vaccines against IPNV have been developed since 1995 and mainly contain VP2 or other fragments like the genomic segment A of IPNV. The developed IPNV vaccines were classified based on antigen: whole virus, viral protein (VP2), segment A of the genome, and provirus. The injections are the preferred administration route for most vaccines, but VP2 antigen can also be administrated orally. Different studies were published over time demonstrating the efficacy evaluation of developed vaccines (Ulrich, 2018). The common parameters used for evaluation were antibody levels, the proportion of post-challenge survival, pathology, and viremia reduction. The detailed immunological studies have revealed that IgM-based humoral immunity is predominant in protection against IPNV but less is known about cellular immunity.

The discovery of the new T-cell activating transcription factors is paving the way for a detailed molecular understanding of cellular immunity. The characterization of T-cell linked cytokines keep up the impression of an effective adaptive immune response in salmonoids in contrast to other animals. Although the discoveries of transcription factors, cytokines, and immune genes have contributed to the detailed information on cellular and humoral immunity, it is still challenging to generate functional tools that explain the effector and protective mechanisms of the salmonoids against IPNV (Munang'andu *et al.*, 2014).

The vaccination trials have shown protection efficacy of more than 80 % but still many outbreaks were reported in vaccinated stocks. The Norwegian aquaculture faced IPNV outbreaks until 2014 which then dropped with the introduction of genomic selection. The high-

yielding output of the genomic selection shows that the QTL-based selection is more effective than vaccines (Ulrich, 2018).

2.6 STATISTICS AND ECONOMIC LOSSES DUE TO IPNV

The Rainbow trout is economically the second most important aquaculture species in Norway after Atlantic salmon. According to official statistics of the Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries, the average sale of slaughtered RT was 75,000 metric tonnes annually over the past 10 years (2011-2020). The annual production is increasing, and Norwegian aquaculture farms harvested the highest ever 96,132 metric tonnes of RT in the year 2020 only. According to the reports, RT farming is economically important, and the value of the slaughtered RT has reached the gross value of 3.77 billion NOK annually. But this highly valuable RT farming in all regions is prone to different challenges like mortalities, fry destruction, escapes, and many others. Figure 5 shown below clearly illustrates that a higher rate of mortalities is the major threat to RT farming and economic losses in Norway (2011-2020) (Aquaculture Statistics, 2020).



Figure 5: Annual mortalities of Rainbow trout (2011-2020) (Inferred from statistics of the Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries, 2021)

The graph clearly shows that mortality is adding a lot to the production losses. The blue line specifying juvenile mortality shows a sharp decrease in juvenile mortality after 2014, mainly due to the introduction of genomic selection stocks, but still many outbreaks are reported annually. One important thing to remember is that IPNV is not the sole contributor to the shown mortality but is one of the major factors along with pancreas disease (PD), cardiomyopathy syndrome (CMS), heart and skeletal muscle inflammation disease (HSMI), and some others. According to the health situation report 2020, IPN was identified in four RT growing sites (two juvenile units and two on growing units). Different research institutions like Nofima and breeding companies are extensively studying the genetic basis of IPNV resistance in RT and commercially available IPNV-resistant QTL stocks and vaccinated fish are widely used to protect the stocks from outbreaks (Aslam et al., 2019). But many hatcheries are still reporting IPN outbreaks that are causing increased mortalities, economic losses, stunted growth, and lower fish welfare.

2.7 SELECTIVE BREEDING AND QTLs

Selection for disease resistance is an important goal of most breeding programs to produce individuals with inherent capabilities to prevent infection. Selective breeding is the exploitation of the genetic variance for a particular trait, and it provides higher genetic gain with cumulative effects. In selective breeding, the parents are tested against disease challenges and the best performing individuals with specific genetic architecture are selected to produce individuals with desired characteristics. In Rainbow trout (RT), many scientists have reported genetic variance against IPNV and identified putative quantitative trait locus (QTLs) associated with resistance to IPNV. (Ozaki et al., 2007) studied 226 markers for linkage analysis and reported nine QTLs significantly affecting the resistance against IPNV in RT. They have also suggested the polygenic nature of the trait. (Flores-Mara et al., 2017) provided heritability estimates for IPNV-resistance in RT and the reported heritability was 0.39 ± 0.08 . The significantly higher genetic variation and heritability for the studied trait suggested the higher potential for the breeding in RT against IPNV-resistance. All the major selection approaches including pedigree-based selection, marker-assisted selection, and genomic selection can be employed to improve IPNV-resistance in breeding stocks. In all, genetic improvement is one of the most effective, sustainable, and longstanding solutions to improve disease resistance and prevent field outbreaks.

The advancements in SNP genotyping and statistical modeling of genetic and phenotypic information improved selection accuracy, leading to higher genetic gains. The highly polymorphic SNP markers are the most successful markers in quantitative trait studies and QTLs are the genomic regions associated with the studied trait. It is assumed that QTL markers are in linkage disequilibrium (that is non-random association of alleles at one locus with alleles at another locus) with the causative locus (Bush & Moore, 2012; Slatkin, 2008).

2.8 GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)

The completion of genome sequencing projects made high throughput genotyping possible using dense markers. Therefore, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) became possible to study the genetic basis of the association between studied traits and SNPs that are either causative or maybe in LD with the causative locus (Gutierrez et al., 2015). GWAS are providing higher selection accuracies and genetic gains than traditional or marker-assisted selection (MAS). They are extensively used in land and aquatic animals for selection against a wide range of diseases. The genome-wide studies have revealed that most of the economically important traits are polygenic and individual genes are explaining only a low proportion of genetic variability. Therefore, sophisticated statistical genomics methods have been developed to consider all the genomic markers while estimating the genetic value of the candidate, one such advanced method is genomic selection.

2.9 GENOMIC SELECTION

(Meuwissen et al., 2001) proposed the concept of genomic selection (GS) that incorporate all the available genome-wide SNP markers for the estimation of breeding values. The whole idea is to estimate the genetic merits of the study subject by summing up the small effects of many SNP markers evenly distributed across the genome. The GS method is like MAS, but it requires dense DNA markers and assumes the contribution of many markers in the overall genetic variation. With the advancements in genotyping and sequencing technologies, the GS was adopted by major plant and animal breeding programs for analyzing the genetic merits of economically important traits (Goddard & Hayes, 2007). The aquaculture breeding industries and research institutes are utilizing GS for selecting the breeding individuals for high-performance, disease-resistant, feed efficient, and economically important traits.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

The analyzed data were obtained from two parallel challenge tests performed in a large (E-4) and a small (E-5) tank at VESO Vikan, each tank with an experimental group of fry, originated from Osland Stamfisk through crosses of sires and dams using previously known information on QTL(s) previously detected for survival to IPNV-AS (Aslam et al., 2019). Sires and dams of the fry were selected based on QTL genotypes with favorable genotypes termed IPNV-resistant (RR), heterozygous genotype (RS), and homozygous susceptible (SS). The planned mating design was a full factorial design with both sires and dams with the three following genotypes as shown in Table 1: resistant (RR), susceptible (SS), and heterozygous (RS).

Sires/Dams (No. of parents)	RR (4)	RS (0)	SS (1)
RR (0)	RR x RR	RR x RS	RR x SS
RS (2)	<mark>RS x RR</mark>	RS x RS	RS x SS
SS (3)	<mark>RR x SS</mark>	SS x RS	<mark>SS x SS</mark>

Table 1: Full-factorial mating design with three different QTL-genotypes

Unfortunately, due to technical/human error during the production of the different groups, only four of the nine planned crosses were obtained (marked yellow in Table 1) and with a very different contribution from the parents (Figure 6). The mixed crosses resulted in a higher proportion of heterozygotes (RS) in the progeny. It was also found that no parental crossing was done between favorable parents (RRxRR) and only a small proportion of resistant (RR) fry were achieved from the crossing of heterozygote parents.



Figure 6: The parental crosses information inferred from the genotyped progeny

The fry were transported from the Osland Stamfisk hatchery to VESO Vikan as ready-to-feed fry. Upon arrival at the Veso Vikan, the fry were nourished for one week by an automatic feeder before the IPNV challenge by bath model. In the bath model, IPNV is added to the study sample tanks up to the concentration of $10^5 - 5 \times 10^5$ TCID₅₀ (Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose) per ml. The study sample tanks were cleaned daily, and the temperature was maintained at $12^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$. The fry were acclimatized according to the standard protocol of the Veso Vikan. The maximum stocking density was set at 40 kg/m3 and the tanks were monitored closely to observe any unexpected behavior, mortality, or loss of appetite.

3.1 STUDY DESIGN

Figure 7 shows the experimental setup and the number of fry in each tank at the start of the challenge test. The large E-4 tank contained 2259 fry (out of which 475 fry belonged to our studied 25 families and 1784 fry from additional 50 nucleus families), while the smaller E-5 tank only contained 604 fry belonging to the study population.



Figure 7: Schematic representation of research study design (fish samples in E-4 tank were challenged with IPNV-RT isolate and in E-5 tank with IPNV-AS isolates, and stocking density is same in both tanks).

After one week, the freshwater supply to the tanks was stopped, and finally, the IPNV isolates with the concentration of 5×10^5 TCID₅₀/mL were used to challenge the experimental fry with IPN virus using the bath model. The fry in tank E-4 was challenged with IPNV-RT isolate acquired from an actual field outbreak at rainbow trout production site, whereas the fry in the E-5 tank were challenged with an IPNV-AS, isolated from an IPNV outbreak in Atlantic salmon. During challenge experiments, mortalities were recorded twice a day and the challenge test was continued until the day-wise mortality reached the minimal limit and terminated on the 40th day. The fry survived till day 40 of the challenge test were considered survivors.

3.2 DNA SAMPLES

A tissue sample from the tails of all the dead fry were collected daily for DNA genotyping and parental identification starting from the day of the challenge until the termination of the

experiment. At the end of the experiment, tissue samples were also obtained from all the survivors. All the collected DNA samples were placed in Nunc 96 well plates filled with 99.5 % absolute alcohol (free of water or fat) and covered with a lid. The 96 well plates are marked 1-12 vertically and A-H horizontally which gave a unique position of each sample. Each of the plates was marked with plate, tank, and experiment number, and samples are electronically marked with the date of sampling and a unique ID. The samples were stored in a refrigerator and all the samples were finally shipped to Nofima AS after the termination of the challenge test.

3.3 GENOTYPING AND QUALITY CONTROL

The DNA genotyping was done using a 57-K Affymetrix axiom SNP array. Quality control was applied at both individual and marker levels; individuals were discarded based on the individual specific genotyping rate of < 98% and poor heterozygosity (\pm 5sd from mean, possible contaminations), and markers were removed based on minor allele frequency (MAF < 2 %), Hardy Weinberg equilibrium test (HWE p-value < 10⁻¹⁰, might be the outcome of genotype calling error), and the marker specific rate of genotyping rate < 98%. Finally, 1079 individuals (out of 1085) and 31055 SNPs passed the quality check and were retained for further analysis.

3.4 RT-PCR SAMPLES

The 10 cross-sectional tissue samples of the dead fry were collected daily from E-5 tank only. At the end of the challenge test, approximately 200 surviving fries from the E-5 tank were sampled for PCR analysis, whereas all the surviving animals from both tanks were sampled for DNA genotyping. The tissue samples were collected in RNAlater vials. All the sample vials were placed in 96-well plates marked with individual sample positions, plate no, unique study identifier, and sampling tank. All the samples were kept at low temperature (-20 °C) as RNA is unstable at higher temperatures). After the termination of the experiment, all samples were finally shipped to NMBU for RT-PCR analysis of the IPNV viral load.

3.5 POPULATION STRUCTURE ANALYSIS

The PLINK package (PLINK: Whole Genome Data Analysis Toolset, 2022; Purcell et al., 2007) was used to perform a principal component analysis for analyzing population stratification. The obtained eigenvectors and eigenvalues were used to prevent the chances of

false-positive genetic associations by accounting for population sub-structures in GWAS analysis. The first two eigenvectors were plotted to visualize the population structure, and the eigenvalues of each eigenvector were used to compute the variation elucidated by the most important eigenvectors.

3.6 SURVIVAL ANALYSIS

The R studio (R Studio, 2020) was used to analyze and visualize the survival properties of the studied fry samples exposed to the two different IPNV (IPNV-RT and IPNV-AS) isolates. The bar plotting was used to analyze the day-wise survival of the fry in each of the two tanks. Then the genotype file was used for family-based separation and plotting of surviving and dead individuals. The Real-time PCR profiles of the viral load were used to make a boxplot of the viral load inferred from samples collected on different days. Finally, the comparative trend was analyzed in survival and viral throughout the challenge test duration (Therneau & Grambsch, 2000).

3.7 VARIANCE COMPONENT ESTIMATION

The genomic relationship matrix (GRM) was computed using marker data of 31055 SNPs, which was used to estimate variances and heritability. Estimates of variance components for survival traits were computed using the following mixed linear model (MLM) implemented in GCTA package (Yang et al., 2011). The restricted maximum likelihood (REML) approach was used in which the GRM was added as a random polygenic component:

$$y = u + Zg + e$$

where

- y = a vector of the binary survival phenotypes (alive=1, dead= 0)
- u = the overall mean of the population
- Z = incidence matrix
- g = vector of genomic breeding values

e = vector of random residual effects

The VanRaden method was used to compute the GRM matrix using the following equation (VanRaden, 2008).

$$G = \frac{ZZ'}{\left[2\sum_{i}^{l} p_{i} \left(1 - p_{i}\right)\right]}$$

where

The following equation was used for the calculation of heritability for survival:

$$h_{obs}^2 = \frac{\sigma_g^2}{\sigma_g^2 + \sigma_e^2}$$

where

 h^{2}_{obs} = heritability σ_{g}^{2} = genetic variance σ_{e}^{2} = residual variance

3.8 GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)

The allele substitution effect of each marker was obtained from a similar statistical model to that above, but that also included the marker effect as a regression variable (Yang et al., 2014)

$$y = u + \sum_{j=1}^{N-2} pca_j + M_i \alpha_i + Zg + e$$

Where;

 M_i = Incidence matrix for SNP *i* containing marker genotypes coded as 0 = AA, 1 = AB|BA, 2 = BB,

 α_i = allele substitution effect of SNP *i*

GCTA genomic tool was used for trait association studies. The mixed linear model, leavingone-chromosome-out (--mlma-loco) approach was used for the current study to analyze the genome-wide complex trait for evaluating the allele substitution effect (Yang et al., 2014). The first two PCA were used as covariates in case of inflated λ -value to account for spurious association due to population sub-structures. The output of the association studies was saved in a file and the P-values were presented as -log₁₀P. The files were then imported into the R studio and different packages, including "qqman", were used to make the Q-Q and Manhattan plots from the information provided in the output file of the association studies. The Q-Q plots were used to check if the observed p-values deviated from the expected values under the normal distribution (D. Turner, 2018; Wickham, 2016).

The inflation factor was calculated using the equation $\frac{median((a^2/s.e^2)^2)}{0.456}$ to observe the inflation of p-values for survival and viral load traits. Ideally, the inflation value (lambda, λ) should be close to 1 which reflects no evidence of inflation in p-values due to unknown reasons (e.g., underlying population structure). The higher values of λ indicate spurious associations due to population sub-structures within the studied population. If the p-values are inflated, then eigenvectors can be used as covariates to adjust the p-values. Manhattan plots were used to visualize the distribution of marker-trait associations and to detect any signal of QTL(s). Two thresholds were calculated to consider significant association of SNPs with survival trait.

The chromosome-wide threshold was calculated using equation $\frac{-\log 10(p-value)}{(No.of SNPs/no.of Chromosomes)}$ and Bonferroni threshold was calculated by using the equation $\frac{-\log 10(p-value)}{No.of SNPs}$. SNPs were considered genome wide significant when they exceeded the Bonferroni threshold for multiple testing of 0.05/31653, (0.05 = alpha; 31653 = total number of genome-wide distributed SNPs in GWAS analysis) and classified as chromosome-wide significant when Bonferroni threshold for multiple testing surpassed 0.05/1091, (0.05 = alpha; 1091 = average number of SNPs per chromosome). The chromosome-wide threshold obtained was $-log_{10}(p - value) = 4.34$ and the genome-wide threshold obtained was $-log_{10}(p - value) = 5.80$.

3.9 PROCESSING OF RNA SAMPLES 3.9.1 RNA extraction

The RNA extraction from the fry tissue samples was done using the QIAGEN QIAsymphony RNA kit (QIAsymphony RNA Kit, 2022). The frozen tissue samples were thawed and then a

scalper was used to cut the tissue samples of equal weight (~ 10 milligrams). Eppendorf (2ml) tubes were labeled according to sample numbers and 400 μ l of RLT buffer was added to each tube using a multi-step micropipette. The samples were added to each tube and then one stainless bead was added per tube for efficient homogenization. Each sample was then homogenized on a rotor-homogenizer (MP fast-prep 24) at the speed of 4.5 m/s for 30 seconds, a procedure that was repeated three times. The sample tubes were placed on ice for cooling down between the runs.

The homogenized samples were then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 3 minutes. The new set of Eppendorf vials compatible with the QIAsmphony Robot was labeled and then finally 400 μ l pellet-free supernatant was added to the new vials. The samples were stored overnight and then placed in a QIAsymphony instrument for further processing. The extracted RNA samples were then stored at -80 °C.

3.9.2 RNA quantification

The extracted RNA samples were subjected to quality and quantity assessment. Epoch microplate spectrophotometer was used for the quantification of RNA in our samples. RNase-free water was used as a blank (RNA free) sample for quantification analysis and 2 μ l of the samples were placed in duplicates on a cleaned microvolume plate. The spectral scans show the wavelength (nm) of the absorbance (A) ratio at A240-290/280. Purity was accessed using A260/A280 and the final concentration of RNA in the sample was obtained in ng/ μ L. All the samples showed good purity and concentration of the RNA except four samples which were discarded, and 444 samples proceeded further for RT-PCR analysis.

3.9.3 IPNV primers

The IPNV-specific primers were designed, tested, and ordered from Eurofins Genomics GmbH, Germany. The primers with the following sequences were used in RT-PCR analysis:

Table 2: IPNV forward and reverse primer sequences

Sr. No	Primer	5'- 3' Sequence
1	IPNV-Forward	CAACAGGGTTCGACAAACCATAC
2	IPNV-Reverse	GAAACGCCGACATCGTCAA

The lyophilized primers were diluted with DNases/RNase-free water (100 pmol/ μ l) to achieve the same concentration. Finally, the primers were diluted to 1:10 factor before use. To be able to compare the relative concentration of amplified viral RNA between samples, Beta-Actin (housekeeping gene) primers were used together with IPNV primers for all samples but in separate PCR reactions. This Beta-Actin gene was used as a reference in all PCR experiments.

3.9.4 Real-time PCR analysis

The BIORAD Universal SYBR Green one-step kit (SYBR® Green | Bio-Rad Laboratories, 2022) was used to run the Real-time PCR analysis of the IPNV challenged RT samples. The kit was one-step as the reverse transcription of RNA into cDNA and then polymerase chain reaction was taking place in a single reaction. The RNA samples and SYBR Green kit reagents were thawed at 4 °C, centrifuged briefly to mix thoroughly, and then placed on ice to protect them. The following reaction components were used to prepare samples for RT-PCR analysis.

Reaction components	Volume for 1 sample
	per 10 µl reaction
iTaq SYBR Green master mix	5 μl
iScript Reverse transcriptase	0.25 μl
Forward Primer	0.5 µl
Reverse Primer	0.5 µl
Nuclease free water	0.875 μl
Template (RNA sample)	3 µl
Total volume	10 µl

 Table 3: List of PCR reaction components

For every RT-PCR reaction, a master mix was prepared in an Eppendorf tube for 86 samples that include duplicates of 40 samples, positive control, negative control, and calibrator. The positive and negative controls were used to ensure the experiment was going well, and a calibrator was used to mitigate the between runs difference as multiple runs of samples were performed on two ArixMx Real-Time PCR thermocyclers (one for IPNV and one for reference samples) for efficient comparison.

All the samples were preheated at 70 °C for 5 min and then dispensed into RT-PCR plates using a multichannel clip-lock micropipette. All samples well were covered with a lock and then the 96-well plate was placed in a Labnet mini plate spinner (mps 1000) for 30 seconds to properly mix the sample with reagent. Finally, the sample plates were placed in the ArixMx Real-Time PCR system with the following RT-PCR profile shown in figure 8.



Figure 8: Thermal Cycler Profile for RT-PCR amplification of IPNV

Finally, the average cycle threshold (CT) value was calculated from the PCR output file for all the IPNV positive IPNV and B-Actin tested samples. The combined worksheet was created to merge the CT values from all the PCR reactions for IPNV, B-Actin, calibrator, and positive and negative controls. The following equation was then used to calculate the relative ratio of viral load in studied samples.

Ratio =
$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\left[\left(E_{ref} \right)^{CT (Sample)} / \left(E_{target} \right)^{CT (Sample)} \right]}{\left[\left(E_{ref} \right)^{CT (Calibrator)} / \left(E_{target} \right)^{CT (Calibrator)} \right]} \right\} X 1000$$

where.

E= Primer efficiency of reference and target samples CT= Threshold cycle for the studied samples

4. RESULTS

4.1 CHALLENGE TEST

4.1.1 Experimental population

The three different groups of sires and dams i.e., IPNV-resistant (RR), heterozygous (RS), and homozygous susceptible (SS) genotypes were crossed to produce the studied progeny. Table 4 shows that no crosses were done between IPNV-resistant (RR) sires and dams and only a small fraction of RR fry (196) were obtained from crosses of RR and RS.

Corr	Sire			
Sex	Genotypes	RR	RS	SS
	RR	0 (No. of individuals)	219	120
		(0) (Genotype wise frequency)	(120 RS, <mark>99 RR</mark>)	(120 RS)
		215	0	67
Dam	RS			
		(118 RS, 97 RR)	(0)	(33 SS, 34 RS)
	231	231	41	135
	SS	(231 RS)	(25 RS, 16 SS)	(135 SS)

Table 4: Genotype-wise distribution of parental crosses and frequency distribution of the progeny fry

4.1.2 Survival analysis of full sibs in the E-4 and E-5 tanks

The challenge test with the two different isolates of IPNV showed a significant difference in mortalities with 60% mortality caused by IPNV-AS vs. 27% mortality by IPV-RT (Figure 9). Additionally, IPNV-RT presents a gradual wider phase of mortalities (day 11 to day 17) with no peak mortality while IPNV-AS resulted in a sharp narrower phase of mortalities with peak mortalities at day 8 (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Day-wise mortality profiles of the IPNV challenge tests with IPNV-RT isolate (A) and IPNV-AS isolate (B).

4.1.3 Survival distribution across families

The distribution of the 25 full-sib families across the two tanks showed a similar pattern of survival in most of the families, but some families show anomalous behavior (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Survival of 25 full-sibs families challenged with an IPNV-RT isolate and IPNV-AS isolate.

4.2 ESTIMATION OF GENETIC PARAMETERS

4.2.1 Genetic variances

Genetic and residual variances for survival to IPNV-RT and IPNV-AS were found to be very similar and with moderate heritabilities (Table 5). The estimated heritability for viral load due to IPNV-AS (0.20 ± 0.08) was very similar to the combined estimated heritability for survival (0.21 ± 0.05).

Table 5: Estimates of genetic variance, residual variance, and heritability for survival to IPNV-RT andIPNV-AS and for the viral load of IPNV-AS

	Survival			Viral load
	IPNV-RT	IPNV-AS	Combined	IPNV-AS
Genetic variance	0.04 ±0.02	0.05 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.01	0.21 ± 0.09
Residual variance	0.19 ± 0.01	0.18 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.01	0.86± 0.07
Heritability	0.16 ± 0.06	0.22 ± 0.06	0.21 ± 0.05	0.20 ± 0.08

4.2.2 Genetic correlations

The genetic correlation of unity (1.0 ± 0.11) between survival to IPNV-RT and IPNV-AS shows that the survival against IPNV-RT and IPNV-AS are the same trait and families rank in identical order. The estimated genetic correlation between IPNV-AS survival and IPNV-AS viral load was -0.70 ± 0.20 which shows that selection for increased resistance to viral load will cause a favorable correlated response in IPNV-AS.

4.3 GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)

4.3.1 Principal component analysis (PCA)

The PCA plots were used to visualize and adjust for (any) population sub-structures. Figure 11 shows the pattern of stratification of the 25 full-sib families with 11(A) color-coded with dams genetic information and figure 11(B) with the sires information. Figure 11(A) shows that the many clusters belong to the same dams (link Dam f_03 showed four clusters) which then came out as separate genetic identities by genetic combination with sires (figure 11). Of the 15.5 % genetic variation captured by the first two PCAs, PCA-1 captured 8.5 %, and PCA-2 explained 6.96%.



Figure 11: Principal component analysis (PCA) for the study samples; individual clusters represent full-sib families and the first two principal components (PCS) explain 15.50 % of the variance. Figure (A) highlights clusters of the off-spring colored with dams genetic information and (B) shows clusters of the off-spring derived from the sires information. Figure (B) depicts subclusters within the dambased clusters of (A) differentiating full and half-sib families

4.3.2 GWAS for IPNV resistance

The results of the GWAS analyses are depicted via four Manhattan plots, one for each of the four studied traits, survival against 1PNV-RT, IPNV-AS, overall IPNV survival and virus load. Figure 12 (A) shows the overall survival of the fry against the two IPNV isolates and demonstrates that many SNPs on different chromosomes have crossed the chromosome-wide and Bonferroni corrected threshold indicating a polygenic nature of the overall-IPNV survival. Figure 12 (B and C) reveals that many SNPs crossed the chromosome-wide significance

threshold of $-\log_{10}P = 4.34$ but not the Bonferroni threshold of $-\log_{10}P = 5.80$. It was also observed that for IPNV-RT one SNP on chromosome 1 shows concordance with the highly significant SNPs discovered in the parental generation of the fry (Luqman et al., 2019, whereas all other highly significant SNPs of the parental generation (marked as green dots) are not highly significant in the studied families. However, the Manhattan plot for the viral load of IPNV-AS shows clear peaks on chromosomes 10, 11 and 16.



Figure 12: Manhattan plot of $-\log 10$ P-values derived from genome-wide association studies (GWAS) on overall IPNV survival (A), survival to IPNV-AS (B), survival to IPNV-RT (C), and viral load for IPNV-AS (D). The red and the blue lines represent the genome-wide Bonferroni significance threshold and chromosome-wide threshold ($-\log 10$ P values of 5.8 ($P=1.8 \times 10^{-6}$) and 4.3 ($P=4.6 \times 10^{-5}$), respectively. Green dots represent highly significant SNPs in the parental generation

4.3.3 Quantile-quantile (QQ) plots

Figure 13 demonstrates the concordance between the observed and expected p-values for the studied traits. The inflation factor (lambda; λ) was between 1.05 and 1.15 (except for IPNV-AS survival) which shows that p-values are not inflated due to unknown reasons (e.g., population structure). GWAS results for survival to IPNV-AS showed inflated p-values with





Figure 13: *Quantile-quantile (QQ-plots) of observed and expected –log10 of the p-value for survival to IPNV-RT and IPNV-AS, and IPNV-AS viral load.*

4.4 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS

4.4.1 Genotype wise survival analysis

Survival curves across individuals carrying different genotypes (RR, RS, and SS) of known/validated QTL are plotted in Figure 14. As expected, the RR genotype fry showed higher survival throughout the challenge test compared to the RS and SS genotypes (Figure 14).



Figure 14: Survival curves for survival to IPNV-RT derived from groups of fry bearing RR, RS, or SS QTL genotypes. The color codes represent a 95% confidence interval.

4.4.2 Survival and viral load analysis

Figure 15 shows concordant dynamic for the survival and relative viral load with higher mortality and virus load at the start of challenge test with decreasing trend through the progression of the challenge test. The different colored blocks, each indicating 10 days intervals, are used to assist in comparing both traits that show concordant behavior over time. The figure clearly shows that the mortality and viral load were high during the first two weeks followed by a decrease in the following weeks.



Figure 15: Comparative analysis of survival and viral load inferred from tank E-5. Colored rectangular blocks of 10 days intervals are used for comparison over the 40 days challenge test period.

5. DISCUSSION

The rainbow trout aquaculture is prone to IPNV infections, leading to higher mortalities and severe clinical infections in production and breeding stocks, especially at the early life stages. Despite effective management, careful disinfection, and vaccination, IPNV is still a threat to the aquaculture industry. The economic losses and welfare concerns called for scientific studies to analyze the molecular pathogenesis and discover the possible solutions to restrict the outbreaks of IPN in aquaculture, which led to the advent of selective breeding as the major step forward. In the present study we have investigated the comparative survival against IPNV challenge and possibilities of reducing this disease problem through selective breeding, and to what extent selection for increased resistance to one pathogenic strain of IPNV will also result in increased resistance to another isolate.

The survival of the fry against two different strains of IPNV was quite different with IPNV-AS challenged fry exhibiting two times higher mortalities compared to the IPNV-RT challenged fry over the 40 days span of the experiment. These results indicate the more virulent nature of the IPNV-AS strain compared to the IPNV-RT strain and are consistent with information obtained from a larger data set study of RT fry (Aslam *et al.*, 2019). Both challenge tests have shown peak mortalities during the second and third-week post-challenge followed by low or no mortalities leading to termination of the challenge test. The difference in mortality can be attributed to amino acid substitutions in the VP2 encoding polyprotein of the IPNV genome as shown in table 6 below.

The molecular analysis has revealed 13 amino acid substitutions in the VP2-encoding gene region, particularly in positions located on the surface of the VP2 protein, likely crucial for interaction with receptors in the host cells and immunogenicity (Munang'andu et al. 2012). It is likely that combinations of the mutations (not a single mutation) are playing a crucial role in IPN infection. However, virulence does not correspond always to molecular determinants and the degree of IPNV infection depends on host-pathogen interaction, viral strain, as well as the rearing environment (Song *et al.*, 2015; Mukoloki *et al.*, 2016, Ahmadivand *et al.*, 2020; Tamer *et al.*, 2020). In a recent research publication, (Hillestad *et al.*, 2021) evinced that the substitutions are enhancing the capacity of the virus to escape the defense of the IPNV resistant fish, and a complete understanding of the genetic interaction between host and pathogen is important to deduce the outcome of the infection.

Amino acid position in VP-	IPNV-RT isolate	IPNV-AS isolate
2 protein of IPNV		
221	А	Т
245	S	G
248	Е	R
252	V	D
255	К	Т
257	D	Н
278	V	А
282	N	Т
285	Y	Н
321	G	D
500	Н	Y

Table 6: List of aminoacids substitutions in VP-2 viral capsid protein

The heritability estimates for all the studied traits were moderate and consistent with two different bath challenge test studies with RT that reported an estimate of 0.39 ± 0.08 for fry offspring of 96 sires and 212 Dams (Flores-Mara *et al.*, 2017), and an estimate of 0.32 ± 0.0 for fry offspring of 56 sires and 119 dams (Aslam *et al.*, 2019). However, for 154 days old RT fingerlings of 20 sires and 58 dams Rodriguez *et al.*, (2019) reported a substantial higher heritability for binary survival (0.83 ± 0.03) and a medium-sized heritability for time to death (0.53 ± 0.05) following intraperitoneal injection of the virus (post-challenge days). The marked differences in heritabilities are due to different study populations, different challenge models, likely different viral strains, selective genotyping of the informative samples, and most importantly different growth stages. Overall, the heritability estimates of the current studied traits are moderate and indicative of potential use in the selection for increased resistance to IPNV in RT breeding programs.

The genetic correlation between survival to IPNV-AS and IPNV-RT was very high, meaning that the selection for one of the studied isolates will impart resistance against the other isolate. The genetic correlation between survival and viral load due to IPNV-AS was moderate and

negative and thus favorable, implying that selection for increased resistance to viral load will cause a favorable correlated response in IPNV-AS survival.

The comparative analysis of the survival and viral load in IPNV-AS challenged fry showed peak mortalities and higher IPNV positive samples during the second week followed by a brief increase in the third week and then a decrease in viral loads and related mortalities later. The pattern of survival and viral load indicates two-stage infectivity where the infected fish shed viruses in the water leading to the horizontal transmission of the virus in the same population. In addition to horizontal transmission, scientific studies have also confirmed the vertical transmission of the IPNV to the progeny of infected parents (13th EAFP Grado, 2007).

The outcome of GWAS for QTL(s) is highly influenced by genetics, linkage disequilibrium, traits heritability, QTL detection model, and the number of animals genotyped and phenotyped. In the current study, we did not identify any major QTL that could explain a major proportion of the genetic variations in survival or viral load. However, the QTLs discovered by (Aslam *et al.*, 2019) on chromosomes 1, 6, and 13 in a challenge study with IPNV-AS were also seen in the current study and it was found that only IPNV-RT survival is showing concordance with the previous study whereas all other traits failed to show the similarity, possibly due to the small population size in the present study and thus less statistical power. The highly significant QTLs observed on chromosome 22 for the IPNV-RT survival trait in this study were absent in the study by (Aslam *et al.*, 2019) and need to be evaluated further.

Rodriguez *et al.*, (2019) have reported a significant QTL on chromosome 5 that explains 19 % of the genetic variation for survival against IPNV resistance in a challenge test. The current GWAS study on the IPNV-AS survival trait showed a peak on chromosomes 5 and 13 that are consistent with the Rodriguez findings. Contrary to the QTLs found on Chromosomes 1, 5, 6, 13, and 23 in the above-mentioned studies, the IPNV-AS viral load trait in this study showed clear peaks on chromosomes 10, 11, and 16 that may be due to the quantitative nature of this trait as compared to the less informative binary survival trait. These peaks need to be further evaluated to find the genomic regions associated with IPNV viral load.

The current study has provided significant insight into comparative survival, genetic architecture, and genomic loci associated to survival. However, there were some limitations of the present study. The sample size was small, and the fry were prone to higher mortalities (specific as well as non-specific). The study did not account for the tank effect and at least part

of the different survival of the fry in the two tanks may be due to a tank effect as there was only one tank per IPNV isolate. The qPCR analysis has resulted in very less IPNV positive samples. In addition to this, the technical error in the crossing of parents led to higher heterozygosity in the progeny which led to less power in the statistical analysis.

Overall, the present and the referenced genome-wide association studies have shown the polygenic nature of the studied IPNV traits as many significant QTLs were found to be significantly associated with the traits. The outcomes of the study have applied aspects to the fish breeding industry to restrict the outbreaks of the IPNV. The genomic selection is the best way for fish breeders to select against IPNV as it will account for all the genetic variation contributions by the many small QTLs. A detailed understanding of the genetic variation and interactions of the host and the IPNV are crucial in understanding the faith of the disease. Viral load should be used as a potentially preferred selection trait for IPNV as it does not include non-specific mortalities, is more informative than the binary survival trait, and helps to detect clinical infections and carriers in the population. The QTLs should be validated using viral load as a trait, and actual causative mutation should be detected using large-scale multi-omics (genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, etc.) data.

6. CONCLUSION

It was found that IPNV-AS is more virulent compared to IPNV-RT which could be attributed to the marked difference in the genetic architecture of the viral genome encoding parts of the viral protein important for host cell interactions and immunogenicity. The indicative estimates of heritabilities for the studied traits were moderate. The GWAS have shown the polygenic nature of the traits under investigation as many QTLs were significantly associated with the traits. This implies that genomic selection is the best strategy to improve the resistance against IPNV in selective breeding programs. The current study can only give indicative estimates due to its limited power, small population size, and more heterozygous samples. The QTLs should be validated using viral load as a trait with a larger data set, and actual causative mutation should be detected using additional omics data.

REFERENCES

- 13th EAFP Grado 2007 EAFP. (2007). Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://eafp.org/13th-eafp-grado-2007/
- Ahmadivand, S., Weidmann, M., Pathogens, M. E.-M.-, & 2020, undefined. (n.d.). Low pathogenic strain of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) associated with recent outbreaks in iranian trout farms. *Mdpi.Com*. Retrieved April 29, 2022, from https://www.mdpi.com/837378
- Aquaculture statistics: salmon, rainbow trout and trout. (n.d.). Retrieved March 6, 2022, from https://www.fiskeridir.no/Akvakultur/Tall-og-analyse/Akvakulturstatistikktidsserier/Laks-regnbueoerret-og-oerret
- *AquaGen:* Retrieved May 9, 2022, from <u>https://www.aquagen.no/en/2015/02/12/worlds-first-</u><u>qtl-for-ipn-resistance-in-rainbow-trout-2/</u>
- Aslam, M.L., et al., Book of Abstracts of the 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of ... - Google Books. (2019). Retrieved May 9, 2022.
- Bain, N., Gregory, A., & Raynard, R. S. (2008a). Genetic analysis of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus from Scotland. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 31(1), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2761.2007.00864.X
- Bain, N., Gregory, A., & Raynard, R. S. (2008b). Genetic analysis of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus from Scotland. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 31(1), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2761.2007.00864.X
- Birnaviridae. (2012). Virus Taxonomy, 499–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384684-6.00045-8
- Birnaviridae and Picobirnaviridae. (2017). *Fenner's Veterinary Virology*, 319–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800946-8.00016-7
- Blake, S., Ma, J. Y., Caporale, D. A., Jairath, S., & Nicholson, B. L. (2001). Phylogenetic relationships of aquatic birnaviruses based on deduced aminoacid sequences of genome segment A cDNA. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 45(2), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.3354/DAO045089
- Bruslind, L., Health, P. R.-J. of A. A.,(2000). Virulence comparison of three Buhl-subtype isolates of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in brook trout fry. *Taylor & Francis*, *12*, 301–315. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8667(2000)012<0301:VCOTBS>2.0.CO;2

- Bush, W. S., & Moore, J. H. (2012). Chapter 11: Genome-Wide Association Studies. PLOS Computational Biology, 8(12), e1002822. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.1002822
- Büyükekiz, A. G., Altun, S., Hansen, E. F., Satıcıoğlu, B., Duman, M., Markussen, T., &
 Rimstad, E. (2018). Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) serotype Sp is prevalent in Turkish rainbow trout farms. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *41*(1), 95–104.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/JFD.12675
- Coulibaly, F., Chevalier, C., Delmas, B., & Rey, F. A. (2010). Crystal Structure of an Aquabirnavirus Particle: Insights into Antigenic Diversity and Virulence Determinism. *Journal of Virology*, 84(4), 1792–1799. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01536-09

Create your own Custom Map | MapChart. Retrieved April 28, 2022, from https://www.mapchart.net/index.html

- D. Turner, S. (2018). qqman: an R package for visualizing GWAS results using Q-Q and manhattan plots. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 3(25), 731. https://doi.org/10.21105/JOSS.00731
- Dobos, P. (1995). The molecular biology of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV). *Annual Review of Fish Diseases*, 5(C), 25–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8030(95)00003-8
- Dobos, P., & Roberts, T. E. (1983). The molecular biology of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus: A review. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 29(4), 377–384. https://doi.org/10.1139/M83-062
- Dopazo, C. P. (2020). The Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis Virus (IPNV) and its Virulence Determinants: What is Known and What Should be Known. *Pathogens (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHOGENS9020094
- Duncan, R., Mason, C., Nagy, E., Leong, J., Virology, P. D.-, & 1991, undefined. (n.d.).
 Sequence analysis of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus genome segment B and its encoded VP1 protein: a putative RNA-dependent RNA polymerase lacking the. *Elsevier*. Retrieved April 29, 2022, from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/004268229190887H

Eriksson-Kallio, A. M., Holopainen, R., Koski, P., Nousiainen, A., Koskinen, H., Kause, A., & Gadd, T. (2020). Susceptibility of rainbow trout to three different genogroups of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *141*, 103–116. https://doi.org/10.3354/DAO03512

- Evensen, & Santi, N. (2008). Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis Virus. *Encyclopedia of Virology*, 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012374410-4.00772-X
- FAO Oncorhynchus mykiss. (n.d.). Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://www.fao.org/fishery/docs/DOCUMENT/aquaculture/CulturedSpecies/file/en/en_ rainbowtrout.htm
- Flores-Mara, R., Rodríguez, F., Bangera, R., Aquaculture, J. L.-, & 2017, undefined. (n.d.).
 Resistance against infectious pancreatic necrosis exhibits significant genetic variation and is not genetically correlated with harvest weight in rainbow trout. *Elsevier*.
 Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0044848617300455
- Gadan, K., Sandtrø, A., Marjara, I. S., Santi, N., Munang'andu, H. M., & Evensen, Ø. (2013).
 Stress-Induced Reversion to Virulence of Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis Virus in Naïve
 Fry of Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar L.). *PLoS ONE*, 8(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0054656
- Goddard, M. E., & Hayes, B. J. (2007). Genomic selection. *Journal of Animal Breeding and Genetics*, *124*(6), 323–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1439-0388.2007.00702.X
- Gomez-Casado, E., Estepa, A., Vaccine, J. C.-, & 2011, undefined. (n.d.). A comparative review on European-farmed finfish RNA viruses and their vaccines. *Elsevier*. Retrieved April 30, 2022, from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264410X11001691

- Gutierrez, A. P., Yáñ Ez, J. M., Fukui, S., Swift, B., & Davidson, W. S. (2015). Genome-Wide association study (GWAS) for growth rate and age at sexual maturation in atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *PLoS ONE*, *10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0119730
- Håstein, T., & Krogsrud, J. (1976a). Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis First Isolation of Virus from Fish in Norway. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 17(1), 109–111. https://doi.org/10.1186/BF03547948
- Håstein, T., & Krogsrud, J. (1976b). Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis First Isolation of Virus from Fish in Norway. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 17(1), 109–111. https://doi.org/10.1186/BF03547948
- Hill, B. J., & Way, K. (1995). Serological classification of infectious pancreatic necrosis (IPN) virus and other aquatic birnaviruses. *Annual Review of Fish Diseases*, 5(C), 55–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8030(95)00011-9

- Hillestad, B., Johannessen, S., Melingen, G. O., & Moghadam, H. K. (2021). Identification of a New Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis Virus (IPNV) Variant in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar L.) that can Cause High Mortality Even in Genetically Resistant Fish. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/FGENE.2021.635185
- Houston, R., Haley, C., Hamilton, A., Heredity, D. G.-, & 2010, undefined. (n.d.). The susceptibility of Atlantic salmon fry to freshwater infectious pancreatic necrosis is largely explained by a major QTL. *Nature.Com.* Retrieved February 2, 2022, from https://www.nature.com/articles/hdy2009171
- *iTaqTM Universal SYBR*® *Green One-Step Kit, 100 x 20 μl rxns, 1 ml | Bio-Rad Laboratories.* (n.d.). Retrieved April 25, 2022, from https://www.bio-rad.com/en-no/sku/1725150-itaquniversal-sybr-green-one-step-kit-100-x-20-ul-rxns-1-ml?ID=1725150
- JOHANSEN, L. -H, & SOMMER, A. -I. (1995). Multiplication of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) in head kidney and blood leucocytes isolated from Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 18(2), 147–156. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2761.1995.TB00272.X
- Julin, K., Mennen, S., diseases, A. S.-J. of fish, & 2013, undefined. (2013). Study of virulence in field isolates of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus obtained from the northern part of N orway. *Wiley Online Library*, 36(2), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2012.01423.x
- Kar, D. (2016a). Introduction. *Epizootic Ulcerative Fish Disease Syndrome*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802504-8.00001-8
- Kar, D. (2016b). Introduction. *Epizootic Ulcerative Fish Disease Syndrome*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802504-8.00001-8
- Kim, C. H., & Leong, J.-A. (1999). FISH VIRUSES. Encyclopedia of Virology, 558–568. https://doi.org/10.1006/RWVI.1999.0100
- Kjøglum, S., Henryon, M., ... T. A.-A., & 2008, undefined. (2008). Selective breeding can increase resistance of Atlantic salmon to furunculosis, infectious salmon anaemia and infectious pancreatic necrosis. *Wiley Online Library*, *39*(5), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2008.01904.x
- Lakshmi, B., Syed, S., & Buddolla, V. (2019). Current Advances in the Protection of Viral Diseases in Aquaculture With Special Reference to Vaccination. *Recent Developments in Applied Microbiology and Biochemistry*, 127–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816328-3.00010-6

- MANGUNWIRYO, H., & AGIUS, C. (1988). Studies on the carrier state of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus infections in rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri Richardson. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 11(2), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2761.1988.TB00532.X
- Meuwissen, T. H. E., Hayes, B. J., & Goddard, M. E. (2001). Prediction of Total Genetic Value Using Genome-Wide Dense Marker Maps. *Genetics*, 157(4), 1819–1829. https://doi.org/10.1093/GENETICS/157.4.1819
- *MFR 46(3), 1984 | Scientific Publications Office*. (n.d.). Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://spo.nmfs.noaa.gov/marine-fisheries-review/mfr-463-1984
- Moen, T., Baranski, M., Sonesson, A. K., & Kjøglum, S. (2009). Confirmation and finemapping of a major QTL for resistance to infectious pancreatic necrosis in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar): Population-level associations between markers and trait. *BMC Genomics*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-368
- Molecular characterization of Sp serotype strains of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus exhibiting differences in virulence. (n.d.). *Int-Res.Com*. Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://www.int-res.com/abstracts/dao/v61/n1-2/p23-32/
- Muhlfeld, C., Dauwalter, D., ... V. D.-T. and char of the, & 2019, undefined. (2019). Global status of trout and char: Conservation challenges in the twenty-first century.
 Researchgate.Net. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Clint-Muhlfeld/publication/336145755
- Munang'Andu, H. M., Fredriksen, B. N., Mutoloki, S., Dalmo, R. A., & Evensen, Ø. (2013). Antigen dose and humoral immune response correspond with protection for inactivated infectious pancreatic necrosis virus vaccines in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L). *Veterinary Research*, 44(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9716-44-7
- Munang'andu, H. M., Mutoloki, S., & Evensen, O. (2016). Birnaviruses of Aquatic Organisms. Aquaculture Virology, 237–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801573-5.00015-2
- Munang'andu, H., Mutoloki, S., Comparative, Ø. E.-D. &, & 2014, undefined. (n.d.). Acquired immunity and vaccination against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus of salmon. *Elsevier*. Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0145305X13002206
- Munro, E. S., & Midtlyng, P. J. (2011). Infectious pancreatic necrosis and associated aquatic birnaviruses. *Fish Diseases and Disorders*, *3*, 1–65. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781845935542.0001

- Mutoloki, S., Jøssund, T. B., Ritchie, G., Munang'andu, H. M., & Evensen, Ø. (2016).
 Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus causing clinical and subclinical infections in atlantic salmon have different genetic fingerprints. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(AUG).
 https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2016.01393/FULL
- Nishizawa, T., ... S. K.-J. of general, (2005). An approach for genogrouping of Japanese isolates of aquabirnaviruses in a new genogroup, VII, based on the VP2/NS junction region. *Eprints.Lib.Hokudai.Ac.Jp*. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.80438-0
- Ozaki, A., Khoo, S.-K., Yoshiura, Y., Ototake, M., Sakamoto, T., Martinus Dijkstra, J., & Okamoto, N. (2007). Identification of additional quantitative trait loci (QTL) responsible for susceptibility to infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in rainbow trout. *Jstage.Jst.Go.Jp*, *42*(3), 131–140.

https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jsfp/42/3/42_3_131/_article/-char/ja/

- Pathogens, C. D.-, & 2020, undefined. (n.d.). The infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) and its virulence determinants: What is known and what should be known. *Mdpi.Com*. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9020094
- PLINK: Whole genome data analysis toolset. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2022, from https://zzz.bwh.harvard.edu/plink/contact.shtml#cite
- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M. A. R., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., de Bakker, P. I. W., Daly, M. J., & Sham, P. C. (2007). PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 81(3), 559–575. https://doi.org/10.1086/519795
- *QIAsymphony RNA Kit.* (n.d.). Retrieved April 25, 2022, from https://www.qiagen.com/us/products/discovery-and-translational-research/dna-rnapurification/rna-purification/total-rna/qiasymphony-rna-kit/
- Reno, P. W., Darley, S., & Savan, M. (1978). Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis: Experimental Induction of a Carrier State in Trout. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, 35(11), 1451–1456. https://doi.org/10.1139/F78-227
- Rivas-Aravena, A., Martin, M. C. S., Galaz, J., Imarai, M., Miranda, D., Spencer, E., & Sandino, A. M. (2012). Evaluation of the immune response against immature viral particles of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV): A new model to develop an attenuated vaccine. *Vaccine*, *30*(34), 5110–5117. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VACCINE.2012.05.062
- Rodríguez, F., ... R. F.-M.-G. G., & 2019, undefined. (n.d.). Genome-wide association analysis for resistance to infectious pancreatic necrosis virus identifies candidate genes

involved in viral replication and immune response. *Academic.Oup.Com.* Retrieved May 9, 2022, from https://academic.oup.com/g3journal/article-abstract/9/9/2897/6026409

- SANO, M., OKAMOTO, N., FUKUDA, H., SANEYOSHI, M., & SANO, T. (1992a). Virulence of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus is associated with the larger RNA segment (RNA segment A). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 15(4), 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2761.1992.TB00666.X
- SANO, M., OKAMOTO, N., FUKUDA, H., SANEYOSHI, M., & SANO, T. (1992b). Virulence of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus is associated with the larger RNA segment (RNA segment A). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 15(4), 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2761.1992.TB00666.X
- Santi, N., Vakharia, V., Virology, Ø. E.-, & 2004, undefined. (n.d.). Identification of putative motifs involved in the virulence of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus. *Elsevier*.
 Retrieved April 29, 2022, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0042682204000121
- Science, G. F.-R. in F., & 2002, undefined. (2002). Rainbow trout—challenges and solutions. *Taylor & Francis*, *10*(4), 545–557. https://doi.org/10.1080/20026491051785
- Sciences, İ. O.-T. J. of F. and A., & 2002, undefined. (n.d.). Rainbow trout broodstock management and seed production in Turkey: Present practices, constraints and the future. *Dergipark.Org.Tr.* Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/trjfas-ayrildi/issue/13294/160669
- Scott, C. J. W., Morris, P. C., & Austin, B. (2011a). CELLULAR, MOLECULAR, GENOMICS, AND BIOMEDICAL APPROACHES | Molecular Fish Pathology. *Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology*, *3*, 2032–2045. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374553-8.00037-X
- Scott, C. J. W., Morris, P. C., & Austin, B. (2011b). CELLULAR, MOLECULAR, GENOMICS, AND BIOMEDICAL APPROACHES | Molecular Fish Pathology. *Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology*, *3*, 2032–2045. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374553-8.00037-X
- SF, undefined, Snieszko, S., pathology, W. Y. of, & 1955, undefined. (n.d.). Infectious pancreatic necrosis in brook trout. *Pubmed.Ncbi.Nlm.Nih.Gov.* Retrieved April 29, 2022, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14387355/
- Shamspor, S., H. Khara and H. Golshahi, 2012. The ... Google Scholar. (n.d.). Retrieved April 30, 2022, from

 $https://scholar.google.no/scholar?hl=no&as_sdt=0\% 2C5&q=Shamspor\% 2C+S.\% 2C+H.$

+Khara+and+H.+Golshahi%2C+2012.+The+effect+of+age+on+the+fertility+and+natali ty+function+of+producer+of+rainbow+trout.+Second+public+conference+of+fishery+s cience+and+Iran+aquatic.&btnG

- Skjesol, A., Skjæveland, I., Elnæs, M., Timmerhaus, G., Fredriksen, B. N., Jørgensen, S., Krasnov, A., & Jørgensen, J. B. (2011). IPNV with high and low virulence: Host immune responses and viral mutations during infection. *Virology Journal*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-396
- Slatkin, M. (2008). Linkage disequilibrium understanding the evolutionary past and mapping the medical future. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2008 9:6, 9(6), 477–485. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2361
- Society, R. M.-T. of the A. F., & 1941, undefined. (n.d.-a). Acute catarrhal enteritis of salmonid fingerlings. *Taylor & Francis*. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/1548-8659(1940)70%5B297%3AACEOSF%5D2.0.CO%3B2
- Society, R. M.-T. of the A. F., & 1941, undefined. (n.d.-b). Acute catarrhal enteritis of salmonid fingerlings. *Taylor & Francis*. Retrieved April 29, 2022, from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/1548-8659(1940)70%5B297%3AACEOSF%5D2.0.CO%3B2
- Society, R. M.-T. of the A. F., & 1941, undefined. (n.d.-c). Acute catarrhal enteritis of salmonid fingerlings. *Taylor & Francis*. Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/1548-8659(1940)70%5B297%3AACEOSF%5D2.0.CO%3B2
- Sommerset I, Bang Jensen B, Bornø B, Haukaas A and Brun E (Eds.). The Health Situation in Norwegian Aquaculture 2020. Published by the Norwegian Veterinary Institute 2021 -Google-søk. (n.d.). Retrieved March 6, 2022
- Song, H., Santi, N., Evensen, Ø., & Vakharia, V. N. (2005). Molecular Determinants of Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis Virus Virulence and Cell Culture Adaptation. *Journal of Virology*, 79(16), 10289–10299. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.79.16.10289-10299.2005
- standardization, K. C.-D. in biological, & 1997, undefined. (n.d.). Immunization with viral antigens: infectious pancreatic necrosis. *Europepmc.Org*. Retrieved April 30, 2022, from https://europepmc.org/article/med/9270848
- Stoskopf, M. K. (2015). Biology and Management of Laboratory Fishes. Laboratory Animal Medicine: Third Edition, 1063–1086. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409527-4.00021-3

support. (2010). FAO STATISTICAL PROGRAMME 2010-2011.

- Tamer, C., Durmaz, Y., Ozan, E., ... H. K.-A., & 2021, undefined. (2020). Pathogenicity trials regarding Turkish isolates of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus and viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus in rainbow trout. *Wiley Online Library*, 52(4), 1395– 1400. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14994
- Tapia, D., Eissler, Y., ... F. R.-R. in, & 2021, undefined. (2021). Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in salmonids: Molecular epidemiology and host response to infection. *Wiley Online Library*, 14(2), 751–769. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12623
- Team, R. S. (n.d.). *RStudio | Open source & professional software for data science teams -RStudio*. Retrieved April 25, 2022, from https://www.rstudio.com/
- The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020. In brief. (2020). *The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020. In Brief.* https://doi.org/10.4060/CA9231EN
- Therneau, T. M., & Grambsch, P. M. (2000). A Package for Survival Analysis in S, version 2.38. Modeling Survival Data: Extending the Cox Model. http://cran.rproject.org/package=survival
- Ulrich, K. (2018). Molecular epidemiological study on Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis Virus isolates from aquafarms in Scotland over three decades. https://www.storre.stir.ac.uk/handle/1893/28340
- Wetten, M., Aasmundstad, T., Kjøglum, S., & Storset, A. (2007). Genetic analysis of resistance to infectious pancreatic necrosis in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Aquaculture*, 272(1–4), 111–117.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2007.08.046

Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4

- Wolf, K., Snieszko, S. F., Dunbar, C. E., & Pyle, E. (1960). Virus Nature of Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis in Trout. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 104(1), 105–108. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-104-25743
- Yang, J., Lee, S. H., Goddard, M. E., & Visscher, P. M. (2011). GCTA: a tool for genomewide complex trait analysis. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 88(1), 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AJHG.2010.11.011
- Yang, J., Zaitlen, N. A., Goddard, M. E., Visscher, P. M., & Price, A. L. (2014). Advantages and pitfalls in the application of mixed-model association methods. *Nature Genetics*, 46(2), 100–106. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.2876



Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet Noregs miljø- og biovitskapelege universitet Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås Norway